#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC02-815

### **MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,**

Petitioner,

v.

## **OMNIPOINT HOLDINGS, INC.,**

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

## ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\_\_\_\_\_

## INITIAL BRIEF OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, PETITIONER

\_\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT A. GINSBURG Mia Stie Placie E. Gilatyk Attent ney Suite 2810 111 N.W. 1st Street Miami, Florida 33128-1993

Tel: (305) 375-5151 Fax: (305) 375-5634

By

Jay W. Williams and Robert L. Krawcheck Assistant County Attorneys

J:\BRF\010362B

ii 1 4

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Omnipoint Holdings, Inc. ("Omnipoint"), applied for an unusual use for a 148-foot high (14-story) telecommunications tower on a parcel of land in Miami-Dade County. R. 73-78, 132. The parcel was zoned for limited business and developed with a low profile mini-storage facility. R. 75. Under the County's zoning ordinance, the limited business district does not permit telecommunications towers as of right, but only as an unusual use after a public hearing. App. 2. Omnipoint also applied to modify the prior site plan for the parcel (which did not include a tower), and to vary the zoning regulations to allow the tower 84 feet from the rear property line, about half of the 164 feet required. R. 73.

At public hearing, professional staff reports, photographs, zoning maps and testimony depicted two fully developed single-family, town-home neighborhoods in the area, lying immediately north and south of the site. R. 73-81. The tallest building in the area was two stories, and the limited business district regulations restricted building height to 45 feet for all uses permitted as of right. R. 132, 192-93; App. 4. Prior to the public hearing, staff recommended approval. R. 77-78. At the hearing, homeowners testified that the tower, by virtue of its size, use, aesthetics, and location on the site, would be incompatible with the surrounding area's character. R. 124-34, 190-99. The zoning appeals board denied Omnipoint's application. R. 71-72.

J:\BRF\010362B 1

On certiorari review, the circuit court quashed the denial, finding it to be unsupported by substantial competent evidence. App. 1. Noting that another carrier's telecommunications pole had been erected nearby, the circuit court also concluded that denying the application would constitute "unlawful discrimination among providers of equivalent services" under the Federal Telecommunications Act, 47 U.S.C. §332 (1996). The court remanded, not directing outright approval of the application, but instead "with instructions to determine the application in accordance with this opinion." No party raised or discussed the facial constitutionality of any zoning ordinance provision, nor did the circuit court address the topic. R. 62-70.

On second-level certiorari review, the district court denied relief. The court found no error below, but substituted different grounds for the same outcome. *Miami-Dade County v. Omnipoint Holdings, Inc.*, 811 So.2d 767 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) ("Omnipoint"). The circuit court, it said, "reached the right result (although on a different basis)." *Id.* at 770. The district court never addressed whether the circuit court applied the correct law of substantial competent evidence or of the Telecommunications Act. Instead, the district court, *sua sponte* and without briefing, ruled that three decades-old provisions of the County's zoning ordinance were facially unconstitutional, for lack of criteria sufficiently definite and objective to guide zoning boards. Employing the strict scrutiny review applicable to

J:\BRF\010362B 2 2

regulations limiting free speech, the court struck the provisions governing how every type of special exception, unusual use, modification of prior approvals, and non-use variance is considered in every zoning district in the County's jurisdiction. *Id.* 

Upon striking the provisions, the court (again sua sponte) concluded as a factual matter that the resulting lack of public hearing standards would result in a complete "prohibition" of personal wireless services, in violation of the Telecommunications Act. Id. The district court did not remand to the circuit court to ascertain whether the record could support this conclusion, nor did it provide the County an opportunity to show whether telecommunications towers are allowed in other zoning districts as of right and without a public hearing. Granting relief beyond what even the circuit court had granted, the district court mandated the outright approval of Omnipoint's application, including the tower's placement within the prohibited setback area and contrary to the approved site plan. The court did so even though, by its own hand, there were no longer any zoning standards by which Omnipoint's requests for an unusual use, modification or variance could be considered. Id.

After that opinion issued, Omnipoint filed a motion with the district court requesting mandamus, albeit to enforce the circuit court's order, not the district court's order directing approval of its entire application. R. 589-615.

J:\BRF\010362B 3 3

The County moved to stay the effect of the opinion and to withhold the mandate. It first noted the risk that one or more telecommunications towers now would be allowed as of right in any zoning district, without regard to public health, safety or welfare. Further, the County explained that striking the provisions on their face and requiring that any substitute zoning criteria be drafted to pass strict scrutiny standards would halt the County's processing of most of its zoning applications for an extended period of time. Such delay and inconvenience, the County urged, would be to the serious detriment and confusion of the public, the real estate and financial communities, and other local governments in the district court's jurisdiction that had adopted similar public hearing standards. R. 634-654.

The district court denied Omnipoint's request for mandamus and the County's request for stay. R. 726.

This petition is from the district court's decision.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Third District Court *sua sponte* struck, as unconstitutional, several isolated but essential provisions of the County's zoning code where the issue had never been raised or briefed by the parties and was not necessary to the decision. The court suddenly labeled as "fundamentally unfair and unjust" regulations that the same court had based its review and decisions upon for decades. *Omnipoint*, at 769 n.6. Because the provisions affect almost all zoning applications, their striking

J:\BRF\010362B 4 4

has essentially frozen the zoning process in Miami-Dade County, impacting every sector of the community and economy.

In striking these zoning provisions, the court applied the strict scrutiny review normally reserved for prior restraints of free speech protected by the First Amendment. The court thereby disallowed the deference and presumption of correctness that it was required to afford the legislative enactments of a coordinate branch of government. *Harrell's Candy Kitchen v. Sarasota-Manatee Airport Auth.*, 111 So. 2d 439, 443-44 (Fla. 1959). Although the County code contains extensive objective criteria, the decision below requires such exactness that, as with free speech restraints, discretion will be virtually eliminated. What was lawfully designed to be a deliberative process for the protection of both private property rights and the public interest on a case by case basis, is effectively reduced to a one-size-fits-all bureaucratic checklist. Such a requirement is in conflict with Supreme Court precedent, which has both relied upon the County's zoning provisions in conducting review, and upheld other jurisdictions' zoning

J:IBRF1010362B 5

There is nothing specific to the Telecommunications Act that would weaken the presumption of correctness. In any event, the court struck the zoning provisions as being unconstitutional "facially," *i.e.*, in *all* instances, and not simply for being unconstitutional "as applied" to telecommunications facilities.

regulations having fewer criteria. *Dusseau v. Metro. Dade County Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 794 So. 2d 1270 (Fla. 2001); *Pylant v. Orange County*, 328 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1976). The precedent of the district court's decision casts a cloud over all kinds of state, county, and municipal legislation, which will now be required to meet First Amendment strict scrutiny standards. The holding will also virtually eliminate the fact-based, quasi-judicial public hearing process carefully delineated by this Court in *Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County v. Snyder*, 627 So.2d 469, 473 (Fla. 1993).

Although, as discussed *infra*, the district court lacked jurisdiction to reach and adjudicate the constitutional issue in the posture of this case, the matter nevertheless is now in issue. The issue is of great public importance and, until resolved, will have a chilling effect on all types of legislation and economic activity throughout the state's most populous judicial district and, indeed, the entire state. This Court should therefore reestablish the applicable standard of review and adjudicate the constitutionality of the provisions in question.

The district court's striking of legislation *sua sponte* would violate principles of judicial restraint and separation of powers even in a plenary appeal. *State v. Turner*, 224 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 1969); *Williston Highlands Dev. Corp. v. Hogue*, 277 So. 2d 260, 261 (Fla. 1973). Coming during the district court's limited "second-tier" certiorari review, the decision is all the more erroneous. Indeed, it is the latest

J:\BRF\010362B 6

of several decisions wherein the Third District Court has exceeded its jurisdiction, despite recent reversals by the Supreme Court on that very ground. *Dusseau*, 794 So. 2d at 1270; *Ivey v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 774 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 2000). Compounding the error, the district court: (a) made its own findings of fact; and (b) ordered the County to approve the zoning application. Both of these actions exceed the court's jurisdiction on second-tier certiorari. Moreover, the finding of fact was totally unfounded and erroneous.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED THE FACIAL CONSTITUTIONALITY OF ISOLATED PORTIONS OF THE MIAMI-DADE COUNTY ZONING CODE, APPLIED THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD, AND INCORRECTLY HELD THEM UNCONSTITUTIONAL, ALL IN CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURT PRECEDENT.

This Court must review the district court's conclusion of law on a *de novo* basis. *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000), *cert. denied*, 532 U.S. 958 (2001); *Medina v. Gulf Coast Linen Serv.*, 825 So.2d 1018, 1020 (Fla. lst DCA 2002). The district court's conclusion that the County's zoning provisions are unconstitutional carries no presumption of correctness—to the contrary, the zoning provisions at issue come to this Court clothed with a presumption of constitutionality. *Dept. of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club*, 434 So. 2d 879, 880-81 (Fla. 1983); *Kass v. Lewin*, 104 So. 2d 572, 576 (Fla. 1958).

A. The District Court Overlooked Supreme Court and District Court

J:\BRF\010362B 7 7

### **Precedent on Constitutional Zoning Standards.**

Relying upon federal First Amendment case law, the district court *sua sponte* declared three isolated provisions of the County code facially unconstitutional pursuant to the strict scrutiny standard uniquely applicable to prior restraints of free expression. Both the standard applied and the result reached are in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court and other district courts and are otherwise erroneous.

The County zoning provisions in question provide for the granting of (a) special exceptions, unusual and new uses, (b) non-use variances, and (c) modification of conditions of prior zoning resolutions. Sections 33-311(A)(3), 33-311(A)(4)(a) & (b), and 33-311(A)(7), respectively. *See* App. 6. These code sections include and exceed the kind of standards which are both typical of this type of legislation and which have been previously relied upon and upheld by the Supreme Court and the district courts. While relying upon two federal First Amendment strict scrutiny cases, discussed *infra*, the opinion below conspicuously makes no mention of Supreme Court of Florida or other district court case law on point, or of the Third District's own long history of reviewing zoning actions pursuant to these very provisions.

In *Pylant v. Orange County*, 328 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1976), the Supreme Court of Florida expressly upheld the constitutionality of state and local special exception

J:BRF1010362B 8 8

legislation with broad standards and far fewer objective criteria than contained in the County code sections in question.<sup>2</sup> *Pylant* involved a First Amendment freedom

Special exceptions, unusual and new uses. [The county zoning boards have authority to] [h]ear application for and grant or deny special exceptions; that is, those exceptions permitted by the regulations only upon approval after public hearing, new uses and unusual uses which by the regulations are only permitted upon approval after public hearing, provided the applied for exception or use, including exception for sit or plot plan approval, in the opinion of the Community Zoning Appeals Board, would not have an unfavorable effect on the economy of Miami-Dade County, Florida, would not generate or result in excessive noise or traffic, cause undue or excessive burden on public facilities, including water, sewer, solid waste disposal, recreation, transportation, streets, roads, highways or other such facilities which have been constructed or which are planned and budgeted for construction, are accessible by private or public roads, streets or highways, tend to create a fire or other equally or create dangerous hazards. or provoke excessive overcrowding concentration of people or population, when considering the necessity for and reasonableness of such applied for exception or use in relation to the present and future development of the area concerned and the compatibility of the applied for exception or use with such area and its development.

*Omnipoint* at 768. (The County Code defines the record to include "any and all portions of the zoning code, Chapter 33, and the [Comprehensive Plan]." App. 5.)

The district court did not recognize that the County code also contains a statement of the purpose of zoning with extensive criteria, § 33-311(A), App. 6, and mandates an extensive professional staff analysis and recommendation for each application. That analysis must state "all facts relevant to the application including an accurate depiction of known living, working, traffic and transportation conditions in the vicinity of the property that is the subject of the application, and also a description

J:\BRF\010362B 9

The district court set forth § 33-311(A)(3) of the Miami-Dade County Code in pertinent part as follows:

of religion challenge by a church complaining that it was required to carry the burden of proving that granting the special exception "shall *not* adversely affect the public interest." *Id.* at 201. The Court quoted in pertinent part from the Orange County Planning and Zoning Act,<sup>4</sup> which provided for the granting of special exceptions upon meeting the foregoing broad standard. *Id.* The Court also addressed, and quoted in pertinent part from, the implementing Orange County Planning and Zoning Resolution, as follows:

"The following uses *may* be permitted as a special exception [upon] ... consider[ing] the character of the neighborhood in which the proposed use is to be located and its affect on the value of surrounding lands and further the area of the site as it relates particularly to the required open spaces and off-street parking facilities...."

*Id.* at 200 (edited in original). Miami-Dade County's special exception provisions contain more objective criteria than the foregoing. *See* App. 5, 6.

Thus, even in a First Amendment freedom of religion context, this Court has upheld standards more broad than those contained in the provisions of the County code which the district court *sua sponte* struck in the present case. Furthermore, the Third District Court has held, consistent with other district courts, that under

J:BRF1010362B 10 10

of all projected effects of the proposed zoning action on those conditions." § 33-310(b), App. 5. *See infra*, n.10.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied or modified unless otherwise indicated. Citations within quoted material are generally deleted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Chapter 63-1716, Section 13(b), Special Acts, Laws of Florida, as amended by Chapter 71-795, Special Acts, Laws of Florida 1971.

the County's ordinance the burden is not upon the applicant but upon "the opposition" [to show] that the public interest will *not* be served or the result will be incompatible with the surrounding area if it is granted." *Metro. Dade County v. Fuller*, 515 So. 2d 1312, 1313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (emphasis in original). Because, as a matter of law, the County's ordinance does not place that burden upon the zoning applicant, the grounds for upholding its constitutionality are, for this additional reason, stronger than those in *Pylant*.

In *Troup v. Bird*, 53 So.2d 717, 721 (Fla. 1951), this Court recognized the following broad standard typically pertaining to special exceptions: "[T]he power to vary the application of zoning regulations, or to permit special exceptions thereto, is commonly expressly limited to such variations or exceptions as *are* consistent or in harmony with, or not subversive or in derogation of, the spirit, intent, purpose or general plan of such regulations.' 58 Am. Jur. Sec. 200, P. 1049." *Id.* at 721.

In *Florida Power and Light Co. v. City of Dania*, 761 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 2000), this Court had no difficulty reviewing lower courts' actions involving standards, quoted by the court, which are decidedly similar to Miami-Dade County's. *Id.* at 1091. Indeed, as recently as May 2001, this Court had no difficulty conducting its review and reversing the Third District Court with regard to a special exception under the very code provisions now invalidated by the district

J:BRF1010362B 11 11

court. Dusseau v. Metro. Dade County Bd. of County Comm'rs, 794 So. 2d 1270 (Fla. 2001).

Other district courts have upheld, against constitutional challenge, zoning provisions similar to or less objective than the County's provisions at issue. Nostimo, Inc. v. City of Clearwater, 594 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (zoning ordinance's "compatibility" and "excessive burden" standards, resembling those in the instant case, not facially unconstitutional); Life Concepts v. Harden, 562 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (word "compatible" in zoning ordinance sufficiently definite to provide limits on zoning boards discretion); Alachua County v. Eagle's Nest Farms, Inc., 473 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (ordinance provisions, allowing special use permits to be granted only if they cause no "substantial detriment to the public good" and if they "will not substantially impair the intent and purpose" of comprehensive plan or zoning regulations, held not to constitute an unlawful delegation of legislative authority). Moreover, for more than thirty years, the Third District Court itself has relied upon and conducted review pursuant to the now-struck zoning provisions. <sup>5</sup>

J:\BRF\010362B 12 12

See, e.g., Grovpac Corp. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 232 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970) (finding County's denial of unusual use, variances, and special exceptions "was amply supported in law and fact"); B.S. Enterprises, Inc. v. Dade County, 342 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (holding that "Board of County Commissioners acting under the zoning regulations had the responsibility of determining whether the granting of the special exception would adversely affect the public interest," and affirming denial); Dade County v. Florida Mining & Materials Corp., 364 So. 2d 31, 34 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) (reversing in part and affirming circuit court's directive that county grant an unusual use and variance based upon evidence that mining operation

# B. The District Court Improperly Negated the Presumption of Correctness and Applied the Wrong Standard of Review.

Under Florida case law and the state constitutional doctrine of separation of powers, courts must afford legislation adopted by a coordinate branch of government a presumption of constitutionality. *See* Fla. Const. art. II, § 3; *see generally Agency for Health Care Admin. v. Hameroff*, 816 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) ("presumption of constitutionality is a paradigm of judicial restraint and an acknowledgment of separation of powers principles"), *rev. denied*, \_\_ Fla. L. Weekly \_\_ (Fla. Dec. 30, 2002). Like other legislation, zoning regulations are entitled to that presumption. "Zoning regulations duly enacted pursuant to lawful

J.\BRF\010362B 13 13

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