# CASE NUMBER SC02-815 LOWER CASE NUMBER 3D01-2347 **MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,** Petitioner/Appellant, v. **OMNIPOINT HOLDINGS, INC.,** Respondent/Appellee. ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ANSWER BRIEF OF OMNIPOINT HOLDINGS Hayes & Martohue, P.A.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Suite 104 St. Petersburg, Florida 33710

Tel: (727) 381-9026

Fax: (727) 381-9025

5959 Central Avenue

By: Deborah L. Martohue

Attorney for Respondent/Appellee

Omnipoint Holdings, Inc.

#

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

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *National Tower, LLC v. Plainville Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 297 F.3d 14 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 2002) (holding such interpretation a prohibition "in effect").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Except in those cases where structural incapacity or signal interference could be proven.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This Court has held that if the term "need", an equivalent to the term "necessity", is used standing along in an ordinance, it is "susceptible of so many conflicting applications that the agency and the courts cannot ascertain the legislative intent." *Florida Home Builders Ass'n*, 367 So. 2d at 220.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The Code standards set forth in §33-311(A)(3) include an evaluation of the necessity and reasonableness of the zoning request. (See App. 6).

is that interpretation by the CZAB and the County that creates inherently opposing criteria as applied in the instant case and in general to telecommunications facilities that is unconstitutional.

In the case at bar, the County concedes that the area immediately surrounding the Property lacks any tall buildings and towers with structural capability to support additional antennas and equipment. (IB p. 1). Omnipoint's proposed facility would permit up to five (5) telecommunications providers, including itself, thus reducing the need for additional facilities in the surrounding area. (R. 85, 95, 173-175). Omnipoint also provided evidence of an approximate four square mile "gap" where it is currently unable to provide wireless service. (R. 87-88, 170). Omnipoint was not alone. Many wireless providers were unable to provide service in this same area and were committed to collocation on Omnipoint's facility if it was approved. (R. 87-88, 95, 170, 173-175).

Facts are stubborn things. These facts demonstrate the necessity and reasonableness of Omnipoint's Application. However, if this Court accepts the County's position that the same facts demonstrate incompatibility rather than necessity, a standard is created that could never be satisfied by Omnipoint in this case or generally by any other wireless service provider.

Perhaps the facts of the instant case are as good as it gets in attempting to satisfy inherently opposing criteria as applied to zoning requests to permit telecommunications facilities. The proposed facility is located in close proximity to other utility poles (albeit not as tall but similar in function and appearance) and to another telecommunications facility 150 feet tall, two feet taller than the proposed facility, but structurally incapable of allowing the installation of Omnipoint's antenna. (R. 77, 82, 95). The facility is a permitted use under the CDMP land use designation and the BU-1A zoning district and thus is presumptively valid. (R. 75-76, App. 2 and 6). The Application site does not abut any residential property<sup>14</sup>. (R. 75, 79-81). It is undisputed that the proposed facility does not pose any adverse impacts on public health and safety<sup>15</sup>, public facilities and services, and does not unduly burden the economy, generate excessive population, or cause excessive noise, odor or traffic. (R. 77, 326-328).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The closest residential structure to the north is approximately 450 feet from the base of the proposed monopole. The closest residential structure to the south is approximately 550 feet from the base of the proposed monopole. (R. 79).

The monopole satisfied all Code requirements for fall factor setback requirements with the exception of the setback from the south Property line which abuts a 260-foot wide canal. Staff found that a non-use variance requesting a lesser setback under that factual circumstance did not pose a adverse impact to public safety because in the event the tower was to topple over from its base to the south, most of the tower would be contained on-site and the remaining portion would fall into the canal thus avoiding any risk to private property or human life.

If the subject ordinances are allowed to be interpreted and applied to permit the term "compatibility" to be so broadly construed without respect to the context of objectively measurable criteria, the applicant is not on notice as to what standards are applicable rendering such interpretation void-for-vagueness. Finally, if the "compatibility" standard is isolated and judged solely in terms of aesthetics, which by definition, is a value judgment, it not only frustrates the intent of the TCA, it creates a threshold of evidence so minimal, immeasurable and undefinable, the zoning framework established by *Snyder*<sup>16</sup> is rendered meaningless.

To further support the argument that these zoning standards are unconstitutional as applied, it is important to understand the unique zoning framework employed by Miami-Dade County. Miami-Dade County manages growth on a neighborhood basis <sup>17</sup> rather than County-wide. This type of zoning structure is not present in any of the other sixty-six Florida Counties. In essence, Miami-Dade County has institutionalized NIMBYISM (not-in-my-backyard) by delegating the vast majority of final zoning authority in no less than thirteen

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See generally Board of County Comm'rs of Brevard County v. Snyder, 627 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> With few exceptions such as comprehensive plan amendments and certain limited appeals from CZAB decisions, CZABs are the final zoning authority on a vast majority of zoning requests including the zoning requests in the case at bar.

neighborhood-zoning boards<sup>18</sup>. §33-311(A)(1-7) (See App. 6). A reasonable person could argue that it is even more imperative that zoning standards implemented by thirteen neighborhood zoning boards within the County be held to a higher standard of clarity, definitiveness and objectivity to ensure that there is no opportunity for inconsistent, arbitrary and discriminatory zoning decisions caused by the lack of sufficient standards.

# IV. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO CONDUCT A DE NOVO REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE OR REVERSE THE DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT ABSENT A MISCARRIAGE OF JUSTICE

The Florida Supreme Court has clearly stated that the circuit courts and the district courts are not permitted to parse through the record conducting a *de novo* review of the record below. The scope of review narrows as one climbs the judicial ladder, thus it is not proper for the Supreme Court to conduct a *de novo* review of the record contrary to the County's assertion. (IB p. 35). *Dusseau v. Metropolitan Dade County Bd. Of County Comm'rs*, 794 So. 2d 1270, 1275 (Fla. 2001) (holding that it is improper for the Supreme Court to conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the commission's decision is supported by competent substantial evidence, "for to do so would perpetuate the district court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Originally sixteen CZABs were created and then through City incorporations became fourteen CZAB's at the time of public hearing on Omnipoint's zoning

error and usurp the first-tier certiorari jurisdiction of the circuit court"); see generally G.B.V. Int'l, 787 So. 2d 838; Florida Power & Light v. City of Dania, 761 So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 2001); and Heggs, 658 So. 2d 523 et. seq. Therefore, the County's bold assertion, with no citation to authority, that this Court's standard of review is de novo on all of the issues raised, including whether or not the record contained substantial competent evidence, is wrong. (IB p. 35).

Thus, absent a miscarriage of justice, which the district court did not declare in its opinion, the decision of the circuit court is final. *Id*. The only issues remaining for this Court are: 1) whether the district court exceeded its jurisdiction declaring the constitutional validity of a local zoning ordinance upon second-tier certiorari review; and 2) whether or not the subject ordinances are unconstitutional. Those issues are subject to a *de novo* standard of review since they are pure questions of law. *Armstrong*, 773 So. 2d at 11.

### A. Standard of Review

Beginning with *Vaillant*, followed by *EDC*, and subsequently clarified by Justice Anstead's articulate opinion in *Haines City v. Heggs*, the Florida Supreme Court has consistently divided the certiorari standard of review between the circuit court sitting in its appellate capacity and the district court of appeal. *City of* 

Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant, 419 So. 2d 624, 626 (Fla. 1982); accord Educational Dev. Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach Zoning Bd. of Appeals, 541 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1989) ("EDC"); Heggs, 658 So. 2d at 528-530; City of Dania, 761 So. 2d at 1092; Ivey, 774 So. 2d 679; G.B.V. Int'l, Ltd., 787 So. 2d at 842-844; Dusseau, 794 So.2d at 1273-1274. The inquiry at both levels of appeal and particularly, the second-tier certiorari level, is deliberately circumscribed and narrowed as the case climbs the judicial ladder to avoid granting the extraordinary remedy of a forbidden second appeal. Id.

The scope of review for the circuit court acting in its appellate capacity includes three discrete components: (1) whether the parties have been accorded procedural due process; (2) whether the essential requirements of law have been observed; and (3) whether the administrative findings and judgment of the lower tribunal are supported by competent substantial evidence. *G.B.V. Int'l*, 787 So. 2d at 843 *quoting Heggs*, 658 So. 2d at 530.

The district court has a much narrower certiorari review. *City of Dania*, 761 So. 2d at 1092. Upon second-tier certiorari review, the district court must only determine whether the circuit court afforded the parties procedural due process and applied the correct law. *G.B.V. Int'l*, 787 So. 2d at 843 *quoting Vaillant* 419 So. 2d at 626. The district court may not reexamine the circuit court's determination

regarding the character of the evidence introduced before the lower tribunal. *City of Dania*, 761 So. 2d at 1093; *accord G.B.V. Int'l*, 787 So. 2d at 845 et. seq. (noting that competent and substantial evidence at the agency level is a level of proof, but at the appellate level, it is equivalent to legally sufficient evidence for purposes of review because the circuit court is not allowed to reweigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the local zoning authority). As a practical matter, a "circuit court's final ruling in most first-tier certiorari cases is conclusive for second-tier review is extraordinarily limited". *City of Dania*, 761 So. 2d at 1092; *accord Dusseau*, 794 So. 2d 1274.

Where there is no discernible error and a miscarriage of justice has not occurred, this Court should not do what the district court is prohibited from doing upon second-tier certiorari review despite the County's pleas to the contrary. *Dusseau*, 794 So. 2d at 1274-1275; *G.B.V. Int'l*, 787 So. 2d at 844; *Heggs*, 658 So. 2d at 528 (holding that "in granting writs of common-law certiorari, the district courts of appeal should not be as concerned with the seriousness of the error...[and] should exercise this discretion only when there has been a violation of clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice.") (emphasis in the original); *Ivey*, 774 So. 2d at 683 (discussing the standard of review which prohibits a district court from granting certiorari simply because it is

dissatisfied with a circuit court's appellate decision, particularly when a threejudge panel issues a well-reasoned opinion supported by appropriate references to controlling Florida law).

# B. The Circuit Court Applied the Correct Standard of Review and the Correct Law

There is no dispute that Omnipoint was afforded procedural due process. (R. 66). The County alleges the circuit court incorrectly applied the law. (IB p. 43).

The circuit court's opinion held the CZAB did not support its decision with competent substantial evidence as a matter of law. (R. 68). If a circuit court's scope of review to determine whether or not the record contains competent substantial evidence is interpreted to permit the circuit court only to agree with a zoning board's decision, what is the purpose of review? Such an interpretation would undermine the rule announced in *Snyder* requiring strict scrutiny of quasijudicial decisions. *Snyder*, 627 So. 2d at 475. That includes a determination of whether or not the record contains competent substantial evidence in accordance with *DeGroot v. Sheffield*, 95 So. 2d 912, 916 (Fla. 1957) and satisfies the burdens of proof established in *Irvine*, 495 So. 2d at 167.

The County argues in one breath that the district court exceeded its secondtier certiorari jurisdiction in rendering its opinion regarding the facial

constitutionality of certain provisions of the County's Zoning Code (IB p. 35-41). In the next breath, ignoring the bevy of long-standing Florida jurisprudence, cited *supra* p. 28, the County boldly urges this Court to bootstrap a *de novo* review of the circuit court's decision under the premise that such investigation is necessary to determine whether the district court properly conducted its review. (IB p. 35). Such argument directly conflicts with the principles of certiorari review established by this Court. (See discussion *supra* pp. 27-30).

The Board may deny the Application only if the Board (or third party opposition) demonstrates with competent substantial evidence presented into the record during the public hearing that the zoning request fails to satisfy the published zoning criteria and the request is "in fact, adverse to the public interest." *Dusseau*, 794 So. 2d at 1273 *quoting Irvine*, 495 So. 2d at 167. The face of the circuit court's opinion clearly states that it reviewed the record in its entirety to determine only whether or not the record contained any substantial competent evidence to support the Board's decision. (R. 62-68). Applying the *DeGroot*<sup>19</sup> test for competent substantial evidence, the circuit court concluded that the citizen testimony did not rise to the level of competent substantial evidence and that the record contained no other competent substantial evidence to support the Board's

decision<sup>20</sup>. (R. 66-68). Such a determination, as a matter of law, is within the sole jurisdiction of the circuit courts. *See generally City of Dania*, 761 So. 2d 1089.

The face of the circuit court opinion clearly reveals that it did not reweigh any evidence. (R. 62-70). Rather, it expressly found there was either no evidence or legally insufficient evidence to support the CZAB's decision. (R. 68).

The County pleads with this Court to second-guess the circuit court's determination of the legal sufficiency of evidence. (IB p. 35). Such review would be improper despite the County's clever, but transparent attempt to cloak such *de novo* investigation of the record evidence under the auspices of a "departure from the essential requirements of law." *See Ivey*, 774 So. 2d at 683. Accordingly, the circuit court acted properly within its scope of review and its decision on the question of substantial competent evidence should be affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *DeGroot*, 95 So. 2d at 916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> For purposes of the Telecommunications Act provision requiring that any state or local government decision to deny a zoning request to construct a telecommunications facility be in writing and supported by substantial competent evidence contained in the record, the test for substantial evidence is such relevant evident evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support the conclusion. *Illinois v. RSA No. 3, Inc. v. County of Peroia*, 963 F. Supp. 732 (C.D. Ill. 1997); *accord AT&T Wireless PCS, Inc. v. City Council of City of Virginia Beach*, 155 F.3d 423 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998); *see also Western PCS II Corp. v.* 

## C. The District Court Properly Affirmed the Circuit Court's Decision

## 1. <u>Substantial Competent Evidence</u>

Applying the standards of review discussed *supra* pp. 27-30, the district court properly declined to investigate the circuit court's decision on the question of substantial competent evidence, as such review would exceed its jurisdiction and constitute a forbidden second appeal.

Even if this Court should disagree with the opinion of the district court that certain provisions of the Miami-Dade Zoning Code are facially unconstitutional, this Court lacks jurisdiction to conduct a *de novo* review and re-examine the circuit court's determination of the character of evidence presented to the CZAB. *See G.B.V. Int'l*, 787 So. 2d at 843 *affirming City of Dania*, 761 So. 2d at 1092; *accord Dusseau*, 794 So.2d at 1273-1275. Such action would improperly grant the County a second forbidden appeal and thus, constitute a departure from the essential requirements of law. *Heggs*, 658 So. 2d. at 530.

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